THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Hon. Donald Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000022

State of South Carolina Respondent,

vs.

Adam Rowell Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
S.C. Bar No. 06188
rauchwise@gmail.com
(864) 229-5010

Billy J. Garrett, Jr.
The Garrett Law Firm
109 Oak Ave.
Greenwood, SC 29646
billygarrettjr@yahoo.com
(864) 229-8000

Carson Henderson
The Henderson Law Firm
109-B Oak Ave.
Greenwood, SC 29646
carson@carsonhendersonlawfirm.com
(864) 229-8000

Jane Hawthorne Merrill
Hawthorne Merrill Law, LLC

Statement of Issues Presented

Question I: Did the trial court err in admitting the blood test results from the 8:54 pm blood draw when the hospital records establish that Adam Martyn Rowell did not arrive at the emergency room until 9:00 pm, the records do not establish whether the blood was drawn from his arm or a line, the blood is unaccounted for for a 30 minute period, and a person who allegedly received the blood from the nurse did not testify?

Question II: Did the trial court err in admitting into evidence the 8:54 pm blood draw when the testimony established that Adam M. Rowell had approximately 50% of the blood in his body replaced with either blood products or saline solution, and the State produced no evidence that the blood products transfusion and saline solution did not impact the reliability of the test administered?

Question III: Did the trial court err in admitting the test results from the SLED blood draw when the blood draw was conducted after more than 150% of the blood volume of Adam Martyn Rowell had been replaced and the test results contained a level of Benadryl which was near lethal, and therefore, brought into question the accuracy of the entire test?

Question IV: Did the trial court err in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing as to a juror who failed to disclose that he had been arrested and had a pending criminal charge being prosecuted by the office of the Solicitor for the 8th judicial circuit when such a question was asked during jury voir dire?

Statement of the Case

Procedural History

Adam Martyn Rowell was formally arrested on December 16, 2014, upon his release from the hospital and charged with one count of felony driving under the influence resulting in death and one count of felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury.¹ He was indicted on March 27, 2015. He was tried before the Honorable Donald R. Hocker and a jury on February 13 to 27, 2017. The jury convicted him of the two charges. Judge Hocker sentenced him to 13 years in prison and a fine of \$10,100 on the felony driving under the influence resulting in death. He was sentenced to 8 years and a fine of \$5,100 on the felony driving under the influence resulting in great bodily injury. The two charges are to run concurrent with each other. Rec. on App. at 1343, 118 to 1344, 16.

Mr. Rowell filed a Motion for a New Trial on March 7, 2017, and a Supplemental Motion on March 29, 2017. A post-trial hearing on the Motion was held on November 27, 2017. Judge Hocker denied the post-trial motion by an Order dated December 27, 2017. The Notice of Appeal was filed on January 3, 2018.

Factual History

Adam Martyn Rowell was involved in a serious automobile accident on November 15, 2014. The accident resulted in the death of Jeremy Cockrell and serious injuries to Matthew Sanders. Mr. Rowell also received massive injuries resulting in transfusions of blood, blood products and saline solutions. He was airlifted to Greenville Memorial Hospital where he remained until December 16,

¹ The trial judge made a finding that Mr. Rowell was arrested at the time of the reading of the Miranda right on November 16, 2014. Rec. on App. at 1207, 121 to 1208, 13.

2014. Rec. on App. at 1175, ll 15-18.

The exact cause of the crash was in dispute, but the record established the collision occurred in the lane of traffic of Mr. Cockrell. The theory of the State was that Mr. Rowell crossed the center line and collided with the truck being driven by Mr. Cockrell. Rec. on App. at 491, ll 6-17. Mr. Rowell presented the testimony of Justin Pennington, an eye witness, that the truck driven by Mr. Cockrell had crossed the center line toward Mr. Rowell, and Mr. Rowell then veered left to avoid the collision. Rec. on App. at 1014, ll 1-15.

The testimony from Mr. Rowell was that he had spent the day running errands for his family. He had anticipated going to a family dinner that night. He had spent the afternoon making trips between the residence of his parents and Walmart. He was seen at Walmart about 2 pm by a friend who testified he was sober and gave no indications of being under the influence. He was seen again at Walmart at about 7 pm on a store video. He again gave no appearance of being intoxicated. Mr. Rowell stated that at the time of the collision he was heading to dinner to celebrate the birthday of his grandmother.

He further testified that he observed the truck being driven by Mr. Cockrell cross the center line and appear to be coming at him. He then swerved left to avoid the collision, but Mr. Cockrell then turned back to the right. They collided in Mr. Cockrell's lane of traffic.

The injuries to Mr. Rowell were so severe that he had to be airlifted to Greenville Memorial Hospital. Rec. on App. at 525, ll 13-24. The hospital records show that blood was taken from Mr. Rowell at 8:54 pm. Rec. on App. at 662, ll 20-24. The records also show that Mr. Rowell's Life Flight helicopter arrived at the hospital at 8:59 pm. Rec. on App. at 1454 (State's Exhibit 70). At a post-trial hearing, the State produced an exhibit that showed Mr. Rowell arrived at the hospital at

8:44 pm, some 15 minutes before the flight records show he arrived. Rec. On App. at 1399 at 23, ll 6-23. Angela Waites, the flight nurse, testified the helicopter departed the accident scene at 8:31 pm and the flight took 24 minutes. This would have put him at Greenville Memorial Hospital some 11 minutes after the State's exhibit showed he arrived. Before arriving at Greenville Memorial Hospital, Mr. Rowell had received 2,540 milliliters of fluids and blood products. This would have been approximately half of the amount of blood in Mr. Rowell. Rec. on App. at 353, ll 7-22.

Angela Waites, the flight nurse, testified she observed Amanda Baker, an emergency room nurse, draw the blood from Mr. Rowell. Rec. on App. at 579, ll 21-24. She testified it was taken from the right arm. Rec. on App. at 583, ll 10-12. Ms. Baker did not remember taking blood from Mr. Rowell. Rec. on App. at 588, ll 21-23. Ms. Baker stated the hospital documents stated the blood was taken from a central line and not the arm. Rec. on App. at 591, ll 16-24. The central line was put in by Dr. Bradley Snow after Mr. Rowell arrived at the emergency room. Rec. on App. at 592, ll 14-15; 593, ll 15-19.

The blood sample taken in the emergency room was sent to the lab, but, according to the hospital records, did not arrive there for approximately 30 minutes from the time it was taken. Rec. on App. at 597, ll 14-20. The lab technician listed as receiving the blood was Bill Evans. Rec. on App. at 671, ll 18 to 672, ll 19. The tubes for the blood drawn in the emergency room with their labels were destroyed after about a week. Rec. on App. at 558, ll 10-17. The analysis from the Greenville Memorial Hospital showed a plasma blood alcohol level of .219. Rec. on App. at 549, ll 14-19.

After Mr. Rowell had his surgery, during which many more liters of blood were given to him, the State obtained a search warrant for a blood sample and urine sample. Rec. on App. at 155, ll 13-25. Trooper Brunson Smith, who served the search warrant, also read the implied consent forms to

Mr. Rowell. Rec. on App. at 154, ll 9-24. Mr. Rowell was unconscious at the time of the reading of the implied consent forms and the search warrant. A blood and urine sample were taken at 1:05 a.m. on November 16, 2014. This was approximately five and a half hours after the wreck. The urine was never tested. Rec. on App. at 796, ll 2-8. The result of this test showed a blood alcohol level of .096. Rec. on App. at 902, ll 11- 12. Also found in the blood was diphenhydramine, commonly known as Benadryl, at a level of 4.9 micrograms per milliliter. Rec. on App. at 1112, ll 20-25. This was on the high end of a toxic dose and .1 away from a lethal dose. Rec. on App. at 1114, ll 18-25; 1115, ll 10-25. The SLED lab report also contained a level of acetone which would indicate the person was a diabetic. Rec. on App. at 1107, ll 3-25. The record does not contain any evidence that Mr. Rowell was diabetic. Mr. Rowell testified he was not diabetic nor does he take Benadryl. Rec. on App. at 1159, ll 6-13.

Argument

Question I

Did the trial court err in admitting the blood test results from the 8:54 pm blood draw when the hospital records establish that Adam Martyn Rowell did not arrive at the emergency room until 9:00 pm, the records do not establish whether the blood was drawn from his arm or a line, the blood is unaccounted for for a 30 minute period, and a person who allegedly received the blood from the nurse did not testify?²

The trial court erred in admitting the blood alcohol test result. This case should be controlled by *Benton v. Pellum*, 232 S.C. 26, 100 S.E.2d 26 (1957). The first glaring error in this case is the fact that the hospital records show that the blood was allegedly taken from Mr. Rowell before he arrived at the emergency room. The records show he arrived at the emergency room at 9:00 pm. Rec. at 1454 (State's Exhibit 70). The blood was taken at 8:54 pm. Rec. on App. at 662, ll 20-24. There is disagreement as to who drew the blood. The Life Flight nurse testified the blood was drawn from the right arm of Mr. Rowell by emergency room nurse Amanda Baker. Rec. on App. at 583, ll 10-12. Ms. Baker did not recall drawing the blood. She testified the blood was drawn from a central line and was drawn by Dr. Snow. Rec. on App. at 665, l 18 to 666, l 11.³

² The record refers to blood being drawn at three separate times. The trial judge stated he was admitting the 8:54 pm blood draw. The hospital records refer to a 9:08 pm blood draw. It is not known what happened to the 9:08 pm blood draw. The last blood draw was drawn at 1:05 am. Rec. on App. at 157, l 11-13. This is referred to as the "SLED" blood draw as it was analyzed by SLED.

³ The time required to install a central line is not set forth in the record. Obviously, it would take a few minutes. Thus, if Mr. Rowell arrived at the emergency room at 9 pm, the blood could not have been drawn until several minutes after 9 pm. Obviously, he did not have a central line placed in him on the flight to Greenville Memorial Hospital.

The reliability of this blood draw is further brought into question when the State produced a document that showed Mr. Rowell arrived at Greenville Memorial Hospital at 8:44 pm. This was some 15 minutes before the evidence the State produced, State's exhibit 70, showed he arrived. Angela Waite, the flight nurse and a State's witness, testified she left the accident scene at 20:31 and the flight took 24 minutes. Rec. on App. at 525, ll 22 - 24. Whether Mr. Rowell arrived at the hospital at 8:44 pm or 8:59 pm might not matter in making decision to save his life. However, the time matters a great deal when the State is attempting to show the blood sent to the lab to be analyzed was actually taken from Mr. Rowell. Obviously, if the blood was taken from a patient that arrived at 8:44 pm, the blood was not taken from Mr. Rowell, regardless of whose name is on the tube of blood.

Emergency room nurse Amanda Baker testified that according to the documents, she did not draw the blood but received it from Dr. Snow. Rec. on App. at 593, ll 15-19. Dr. Snow, however, while describing the general procedure as to drawing of blood in the emergency room, never testified he drew the blood or even how the blood was drawn. Rec. on App. at 341, l 14 to 342, l 12. Angela Waites, the flight nurse, testified she observed Baker draw the blood from Mr. Rowell. Rec. on App. at 579, ll 21-24. She testified it was taken from the right arm. Rec. on App. at 583, ll 10-12. Ms. Baker did not remember taking blood from Mr. Rowell. Rec. on App. at 588, ll 21-23.

To further complicate this chain of custody, the testimony says it was given to a technician named Bill Evans. Emergency room nurse Baker testified on direct as follows:

Q. (By Mr. Garrett) But it sat down there – once you take it where does it go?

A. (Ms. Baker) It goes into the tube, into the – into the bag, and then the tech takes it up there. And then they have to hand it to a person at the lab window.

Q. And you do not recall doing that in this case?

A. No.

Q. Or giving it to a tech?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you know what the name of the tech would be?

A. The only one listed is Bill Evans. He's the only tech present, according to this documentation, the day that –

Q. So there was a person named Bill Evans who had possession of the blood?

A. Un-huh

Q. Affirmative. That was yes?

A. Yes

Rec. on App. at 671, l 13 to 672, l 7.

Mr. Evans did not testify. The State never attempted to explain his absence or his unavailability. The blood took over 30 minutes to go up one floor. The State never attempted to explain why this blood drawn in an emergency room was not immediately sent to the lab one floor up.

Our Supreme Court has said, “[T]he party offering such specimen is required to establish, at least as far as practicable, a complete chain of evidence, tracing possession from the time the specimen is taken from the human body to the final custodian by whom it is analyzed.” *Id.* at 33, 100 S.E.2d at 537. The chain in this case is fatal from the very beginning. The blood was taken from a person before Mr. Rowell was admitted to the emergency room. The blood was even taken before the helicopter carrying Mr. Rowell touched down at Greenville Memorial Hospital according to the flight records. The hospital records have Mr. Rowell being admitted over 10 minutes before he arrived at the hospital. This is a factual impossibility. The only attempt to explain this impossibility was the testimony of Dr. John Reddic, who referred to it as “clock slop.” Rec. on App. at 744, ll 11-16. The problem with the theory of the State is no one involved in drawing the blood testified it is their standard practice to look at their watch for a time when drawing blood. The

testimony was Amanda Westhart was the nurse recording the events, including the times. Rec. on App. at 580, l 24 to 581, l 3; 654, l 18. Even though she was named as a possible witness, Ms. Westhart never testified. Rec. on App. 37, l 8. As a result, the record does not show what source she used to record the times. Nothing in this record suggests that Ms. Westhart used a watch or that any source of time she used was not in keeping with the clock in the laboratory. To conclude there was “clock slop” in this case is complete speculation. “Clock slop” can never be a basis for admitting a blood sample when the medical record times make it factually impossible for the blood that was analyzed to be the blood of the person it purports to be.

In addition, the tech who received the blood was supposed to immediately walk the blood to the lab on the second floor. Rec. on App. at 668, ll 5-12. The blood was handed to a tech named Bill Evans who never testified nor was there any attempt to explain why it took 30 minutes to walk up one floor. Ms. Baker testified she normally labels the blood. Rec. on App. at 590, ll 12-14. But the testimony also shows that at times the blood is not labeled and the lab has to call the emergency room to get the information. As Mr. Robert Smith testified, “In some cases there are times when they don’t put collection information, and in that instance I would call to the ER to get the collection information.” Rec. on App. at 698, ll 4-8. As no one from Greenville Memorial Hospital had a recollection about the collection process in this case, whether the blood was labeled or the lab had to call the ER to get the information is unknown. And if the sample sent to the lab was the sample of the person admitted at 8:44 pm and drawn at 8:54 pm, then that person was not Mr. Rowell. The State is required to prove the proper labeling and handling of the blood drawn. As the labels were destroyed, the State is unable to disprove the lab technician called and obtained information from the ER and that the information obtained was incorrect. Under the times established in this case,

this fact is more than a mere possibility. In fact, it is the only explanation that explains the very serious time differences.

While the testimony was that the tubes the blood is placed in are self-sealing, Mr. Smith testified he would not be able to tell if the tubes had been tampered with. As he stated, "There would be no way I would know if it was tampered with before it got to me." Rec. on App. at 688, ll 23-24. He later stated the obvious and said if the cap was missing off the tube and it had spilled, he would not test it.

Mr. Smith further testified that he did not know from whom he received the blood. Rec. on App. at 602, ll 3-9. He admitted he has no knowledge as to how he received the blood. Rec. on App. at 597, 121 to 598, 13. This information may have been available to the State had they checked the scanning records of when a person entered the laboratory. Rec. on App. at 602, ll 5-9. When a person has control of an item that is not sealed, that person must testify to preserve the chain of custody. This Court has acknowledged that an incorrect date may not be a basis for holding a chain of custody is not valid. In doing so the Court said, "Although a discrepancy existed as to the dates Dailey received the evidence, no evidence was presented to indicate the drugs were not within the control of identifiable people during the entire time." *State v. Johnson*, 318 S.C. 194, 196, 456 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 1995). Here, the record establishes that the blood vial, apparently not sealed, was in the control of an unidentified person who brought it to the lab.

Many of these unanswered questions as to whether Mr. Rowell's blood was actually tested could have been answered if the original vial and labels had been retained. They were destroyed a week or so after the blood was tested. Rec. on App. at 558, ll 10-17. Had the label been preserved, then the lower court would have known if the tube had been labeled or if the lab had to call to obtain

the information. The Court would have known if the lab copied the information correctly when they put it in their computer. Some of the unanswered questions in this chain could have been answered. But if the blood tested is that of the person who arrived at 8:44 pm, then the unanswered question is - whose blood was it?

To further add to the confusion in this matter, the record also reflects that a blood sample was taken at 9:08 pm. Rec. on App. at 683, ll 20-23. The laboratory personnel never reported they received two blood samples from Mr. Rowell. The trial judge admitted to the confusion when he stated, "If there was another blood draw – I mean, I can't control that." Rec. on App. at 686, ll 13-14. He concluded that the 8:54 pm blood draw was the one being admitted. But as noted, this blood draw was even before Mr. Rowell had arrived at the emergency room and had the central line installed.

As to the obligation to establish a valid chain of custody, the South Carolina Supreme Court has said, "DSS has the burden to establish a chain of custody for the blood samples 'as far as practicable.'" *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Cochran*, 356 S.C. 413, 418, 589 S.E.2d 753, 755 (2003). This includes the obligation to establish the item tested is in fact the blood of the person it is being introduced against. The State has failed in their burden in this case. What is left to speculation, among other things, is not only whether the blood tested is the 8:54 pm blood draw or the 9:08 pm blood draw, but whose blood is it? Was the 8:54 pm blood draw related to the patient who arrived at 8:44? The trial judge found it was the 8:54 pm blood draw being introduced but acknowledged that there was apparently a 9:08 pm blood draw for which there is no record.

The State attempted to explain the lack of clear evidence as to the chain of custody by saying the emergency room was "controlled chaos." Rec. on App. at 685, l 8. But because there is

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