STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY  
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000022

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ADAM MARTYN ROWELL,

---

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516  
Greenwood, SC 29483  
(864)-942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

Accordingly, the State established a complete chain of custody for Sample A. The State established who took the sample, who transported the sample to the hospital lab, and who analyzed the sample. (R. 662, 665-67, 680-81). The only possible witness in the chain who did

not testify was Bill Evans. Appellant, by contrast, did not produce any evidence of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive. Absent any proof of tampering, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by admitting Sample A into evidence.

### **Harmless Error**

Even if this Court concludes the trial judge abused his discretion in admitting Sample A, the evidence was merely cumulative to Sample B and other evidence regarding Appellant's impairment rendering any such error harmless. See State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008). ("The admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence."). Three witnesses testified that the odor of an alcoholic beverage was emanating from Appellant. (R. 138, 292, 316-17). Trooper Smith also testified that he saw at least one open alcoholic beverage inside Appellant's vehicle. (R. 139). Sample B, taken approximately six hours after the wreck, yielded a blood alcohol level of .096. Appellant does not challenge the chain of custody for Sample B. (Final Brief of Respondent 17). Therefore, even if the trial judge erred by admitting Sample A, Sample B proved that Appellant was still impaired six hours after the wreck even after a blood transfusion. Accordingly, any error in admitting Sample A is harmless in light of the admission of Sample B and the rest of the evidence presented against Appellant regarding his impairment. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge properly admitted blood Sample A into evidence when Appellant's expert admitted that he did not have any proof that the State's results were unreliable and Appellant's expert otherwise conceded the reliability of the State's testing methods.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by admitting Sample A when Appellant had approximately 50% of the blood in his body replaced with transfused blood and blood products. Specifically, Appellant contends the trial judge erred because the State did not offer any proof that the test result was reliable. However, Appellant did not question the reliability of the methods used to test Sample A at trial, but merely differed with the results that were reached by the hospital. Appellant offered Dr. Valentine to suggest the results of Sample A were a false positive because the hospital did not account for the presence of lactic acid in Appellant's body, but Appellant did not question the actual method of testing used by the hospital. (R. 1069-83). The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the results of Sample A because any questions raised about the results of Sample A are related to the weight of the evidence and not its admissibility.

The decision as to whether to admit or exclude expert testimony rests within the trial court's sound discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent a prejudicial abuse of that discretion. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). In order to admit scientific evidence under rule 702 SCRE, the trial court must find: (1) the testimony will assist the trier of fact, (2) the witness is qualified, (3) the underlying science is reliable, and (4) the testimony's probative value is not outweighed by its prejudicial effect. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). In considering the reliability of scientific evidence, our appellate courts consider several factors including: "(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3)

the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” State v. Council 335 S.C. at 19, 515 S.E.2d at 517.

Here, Appellant never challenged the reliability of the methods used to test Sample A by Greenville Hospital. The trial judge heard testimony from four witnesses *in camera* to determine the admissibility of Sample A on chain of custody grounds. (R. 574-638). At the conclusion of the *in camera* hearing, the trial judge ruled that a chain of custody had been established. (R. 638). In responding to the trial judge’s ruling, Appellant asserted that he would still challenge the results of Sample A, although he did not specify what grounds he would challenge the results under. (R. 640). Appellant then clarified that he planned to challenge the reliability of Sample A through his expert witness and through cross examination of the State’s witnesses. (R. 644-45). However, when the State called Dr. John Reddic to describe how Sample A was tested, Appellant did not object to the admissibility of Sample A on grounds of reliability. (R. 733-39). Appellant cross examined Reddic about whether lactic acid could cause a false positive alcohol result, but Appellant did not question whether the machine used by the hospital was reliable. (R. 742-61). In fact, Appellant’s expert, Dr. Valentine, acknowledged the hospital used a different test than SLED because it was a quicker test and was better suited for a Doctor’s needs in providing quick care for a patient in an emergency situation. (R. 1067). Valentine did not, however, question the fundamental reliability of the hospital’s test for obtaining an alcohol concentration. Valentine merely presented an alternative hypothesis that could account for Appellant’s elevated blood alcohol reading. (R. 1065-84). Appellant confuses the trial judge’s role in assessing the reliability of a test with the jury’s role in determining the weight of the results of that test. Because Appellant did not challenge the reliability of the test used by the

hospital, but merely differed with the result, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the results of Sample A. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

### III.

**The trial judge properly admitted blood Sample B into evidence when Appellant's expert admitted that he did not have any proof that the State's results were unreliable and even admitted the State's testing method was the "gold standard" for testing for alcohol concentration.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by admitting the results of Sample B because Sample B was drawn from Appellant after approximately 9,000 milliliters of blood and blood products had been transfused into Appellant's body. Appellant also takes issue with the amount of Benadryl that was present in Sample B because Dr. Valentine testified that such a level of Benadryl would have made Appellant comatose. Appellant also complains that the State did not call an expert in rebuttal to contradict Valentine's testimony. (Final Brief of Appellant 18). Appellant's argument is without merit. As discussed previously in regards to Appellant's second issue on appeal, Appellant confuses the trial judge's role in assessing the reliability of a test with a jury's role in determining the weight of the results of that test. As with Sample A, Appellant did not question the reliability of the test used by SLED to analyze Sample B but merely offered an alternative theory to explain why Appellant had such a high blood alcohol level. Because Appellant did not challenge the reliability of the State's method of testing, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the results of Sample B.

Appellant's expert took no issue with the testing methods used by SLED. In fact, Valentine praised the test as "the gold standard" to use when testing for alcohol. (R. 813, 1067, 1100, 1105). The trial judge astutely recognized that Appellant was not challenging the reliability of the test used, but merely casting doubt on its results when he made the following ruling:

The Court: In light of the fact that Dr. Valentine is not attacking the reliability of the methodology and science behind the SLED testing and the procedures that they use, he's only attacking the reliability of the results itself, I am not going to suppress the result at this time, assuming that everything else comes into play properly to get the results in. And certainly in the Defense case and chief they can put up Dr. Valentine to offer that same line of testimony. And this is in no way an indication that I don't believe that Dr. Valentine's expert opinion and his testimony was not a good sound basis. I'm sure it is. But again, he's not attacking the methodology of the test, just the results, and that would go to the weight.

(R. 825, lines 6-18). As the trial judge suggested in his ruling, Appellant did try to attack the reliability of the results of Sample B through Valentine's testimony. Valentine suggested that Sample B may have been contaminated by alcohol contained in the foreign blood that had been transfused into Appellant's body. However, Valentine could not offer any scientific studies to substantiate his theory because no studies have been done on the subject because of the unethical nature of such a test. (R. 1097-98). Valentine also offered the alternative hypothesis that the blood from the donor bank could have been contaminated with various drugs, such as Benadryl. (R. 1101-04). However, Valentine also acknowledged that any theory about Appellant receiving contaminated blood would be mere speculation. (R. 1103-04). Furthermore, Valentine admitted the blood alcohol reading in Sample B was consistent with Appellant's blood being diluted from so many transfusions. (R. 816-18, 1130-31).

Appellant maintains the State was obligated to produce rebuttal testimony to contest the findings of Valentine. (Final Brief of Appellant 18, 22). This argument is meritless. The State is under no obligation to call rebuttal witnesses or contest the findings of a defense expert. This is especially true when the defense expert agrees the State's testing method is the "gold standard", there are no scientific studies to support the defense's alternate theories, and when the defense expert admits one of his alternate theories would be mere speculation. (R. 1097-98, 1100, 1103-04). Ultimately, Appellant's expert sought to cast reasonable doubt on the weight of the State's

evidence in regards to Sample B, but they did not question the reliability of the underlying test. The jury concluded Appellant failed in this regard. Because Appellant does not question the reliability of SLED's testing methods, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the results of Sample B. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

#### IV.

**Appellant waived any request for an evidentiary hearing regarding Juror 164's failure to disclose his prior arrest and thereby failed to preserve this issue for appeal, because Appellant failed to secure Juror 164 for Appellant's post-trial hearing such that evidence could be presented. Even assuming this issue is properly preserved for appeal, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in refusing to grant Appellant a new trial because the initial method of questioning the jury panel utilized by the trial judge during *voir dire* was confusing to the average juror, therefore there was no probative evidence that Juror 164's failure to disclose his arrest was intentional.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in not conducting an evidentiary hearing regarding Juror 164's failure to disclose a prior arrest. Appellant also seems to suggest the trial court erred by not granting Appellant a new trial on this basis. (Final Brief of Appellant 28). However, Appellant does not allege that error in the relevant issue statement of his final brief. (Final Brief of Appellant 1, 23)<sup>1</sup>. Appellant did not raise any issues about juror misconduct at trial, but brought the issue to the trial court's attention via a post-trial motion for a new trial (R. 1363-64, 1368-69). A hearing took place to address Appellant's motions on November 27, 2017. At this hearing, Appellant explained to the trial judge that Juror 164 was arrested and charged with possession with intent to distribute marijuana, possession with intent to distribute within proximity of a school, and unlawful neglect of a child in the weeks preceding Appellant's trial in January 2017. (R. 1403-06). Appellant did not clearly articulate what relief he was asking for at

---

<sup>1</sup> See Rule 208(b) SCACR ("...The Statement shall be concise and direct as to each issue, and may be stated in question form. Broad general statements may be disregarded by the appellate court. Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.")

the hearing, but merely stated that “We still are not abandoning this issue of putting somebody with an arrest record on the jury.” (R. 1407, lines 7-8). Because Appellant appears to be alleging two separate errors within the fourth issue in his Final Brief, it is instructive to address each issue separately.

### **Evidentiary Hearing**

As an initial matter, Appellant waived any claim he had to an evidentiary hearing on the juror issue, by not attempting to secure Juror 164’s appearance for offering evidence at the evidentiary hearing. Appellant failed to develop an adequate record for this Court’s review. Indeed, without presenting testimony from Juror 164 about the answers given during *voir dire* and his ability to render a fair verdict, this issue was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, and it is not properly preserved for appeal.

“An objection withdrawn at trial constitutes an express waiver of the issue and does not preserve the issue for appellate review.” Ligon v. Norris, 371 S.C. 625, 634, 640 S.E.2d 469, 472 (Ct. App. 2006). “In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). “Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). “A proffer of testimony is required to preserve the issue of whether testimony was properly excluded by the trial judge, and an appellate court will not consider error alleged in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the excluded testimony would have been. State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 163, 634 S.E.2d

23, 29 (Ct. App. 2006). The burden is on an Appellant to provide a sufficient record for review. State v. Hutto, 279 S.C. 131, 303 S.E. 2d 90 (1983).

Here, Appellant not only did not secure Juror 164's appearance for the post-trial hearing, but Appellant appeared to make little to no effort to do so. Ostensibly, the trial judge held a hearing on November 27, 2017 for that very purpose and yet Appellant did not present any witnesses to prove there had been juror misconduct and openly admitted that he voluntarily chose not to do so. When asked if he wanted to be heard on this issue, Appellant stated:

Mr. Henderson: Your honor, as it relates to this juror – and – and again, nothing has been produced to us indicating that he was a confidential informant. And because he does have a lawyer, Ms. Nelson with the public defender's office, we ethically thought that we can't directly contact him. Even on an unrelated matter, we don't think we're – it's – proper to contact him. But we've contacted Ms. Nelson, and she's made it very clear to us, he has no interest in talking to us.

(R. 1406, lines 5-13). Counsel for Appellant expressed ethical reservations about speaking with Juror 164, but did not issue a subpoena to require Juror 164's attendance at the hearing or ask the trial judge to require his attendance. Juror 164 may very well have invoked his fifth amendment privilege against self-incrimination at such a hearing, but the trial judge could not verify that because Appellant did not present the trial judge with that request. This illustrates the problem of Appellant not creating an adequate record for review. Therefore, to the extent Appellant is arguing that the trial judge erred by not conducting an evidentiary hearing, Appellant has waived that issue and it is not preserved for appeal.

#### **Motion for New Trial**

Assuming for the sake of argument that Appellant means to argue the trial judge erred by not granting a new trial, Appellant's argument is nevertheless without merit. Juror 164 did not disclose that he had recently been arrested to the trial judge. However, Juror 164's failure to

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